
 

 

 

 
 

BOARD 

OF 

COMMISSIONERS 
 

 

 

December 04, 2023 

10:00 AM 

 

 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners December 04, 2023 

Page 2 of 3 

This agenda is only a tentative schedule of matters the Commissioners may address at their meeting and all items 

found on it may be deleted, amended or deferred. The Commissioners may also, in their absolute discretion, 

consider matters not shown on this agenda. 

Special accommodations for the disabled who attend public meetings can be made by contacting the Clerk to the 

Board 24 hours in advance at 252-338-6363, Ext. 311. 

Please silence cell phones. 

Agenda 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

December 04, 2023; 10:00 AM 

Camden Public Library - Boardroom 

118 Hwy 343 North 

Welcome & Call to Order 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 

ITEM I. Consideration of Agenda (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM II. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 

ITEM III. Election of Board Chair - John Morrison 

ITEM IV. Election of Board Vice Chair 

ITEM V. Presentations (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Employee Recognition - Beverly Fonville

ITEM VI. Public Comments 

It is requested that comments be limited to (2-3) minutes. The length and number of comments 

may be limited upon the Chairman’s discretion due to scheduling and other issues. 

ITEM VII. New Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Approval of Bonds

B. Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Regular Meeting Schedule

C. 2024 Holiday Schedule

D. Tax Report

E. Proposed SMWA System Transfer and Purchase Agreement



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners December 04, 2023 

Page 3 of 3 

F. Williams Brothers Farms Proposed Lease

G. Lease Renewal of County Property - 390 US 158

H. Lease Renewal of County Property - 151 Gumberry Road

ITEM VIII. Board Appointments (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board

Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

Reconvene Board of Commissioners 

ITEM IX. Consent Agenda  

A. BOC Meeting Minutes

B. Budget Amendments

C. Pickups, Releases & Refunds

D. Refunds Over $100.00

E. Tax Collection Report

F. Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00

G. 2024-2025 Annual Budget & CIP Calendar

ITEM X. County Manager's Report 

ITEM XI. Commissioners' Reports 

ITEM XII. Information, Reports & Minutes from Other Agencies 

A. Library Report

B. Register of Deeds

ITEM XIII. Other Matters (For discussion and possible action) 

Closed Session - Personnel 

ITEM XIV. Adjourn 



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 5.A 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Beverly Fonville, 

 Human Resources 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Employee Recognition 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

Staff that have reached milestone employment anniversaries will be recognized with service 

pins. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 4



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.A 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Stephanie Jackson, 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Stephanie Jackson 

 
Item Title   Approval of Bonds 

 

Attachments: Bonds (PDF) 

 

Summary: Please find attached the bonds for the Finance Officer, Sheriff, Register of 

Deeds, Tax Assessor/Collector and the Commissioners as required by law. We have the 

original bonds and each year they are extended.  

 

Recommendation: 

Approval 

7.A

Packet Pg. 5



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
n

d
s 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

B
o

n
d

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.B 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Regular 

Meeting Schedule 

 

Attachments: Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Schedule 

of Regular Meetings

 (DOCX) 

 

7.B

Packet Pg. 15



 
 

Resolution 2023-12-01 

 

Resolution of the Camden County Board of Commissioners 

Establishing the 2024 Schedule of Regular Meetings 

 

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 153A-40 requires boards of commissioners to hold a regular-

scheduled meeting at least once a month; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Camden County Board of Commissioners meets in the Boardroom in the Camden County 

Public Library located at 118 North 343 in Camden, North Carolina. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by action of the Camden County Board of Commissioners, the 

following Schedule of Regular Meetings for 2024 is set forth as follows: 

 
MEETING DATE  TIME 

Tuesday, January 2, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, February 5, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, March 4, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, April 1, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, May 6, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, June 3, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, July 1, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, August 5, 2024 7:00 PM 

Tuesday, September 3, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, October 7, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, November 4, 2024 7:00 PM 

Monday, December 2, 2024  
(Swearing-In Ceremony & Organizational Meeting) 

8:30 AM 

 
       

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this Resolution shall be posted on the courthouse and library 

bulletin boards at least ten (10) days before the first meeting to which it applies and that the adopted Schedule 

of Meetings shall be posted on the County website.   

 

Adopted this the 4th day of December 2023. 

 

        ATTEST: 

 

               

Chair        Karen M. Davis, Clerk to the Board 

Camden County Board of Commissioners   Camden County Board of Commissioners  

 

7.B.a

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
02

3-
12

-0
1 

E
st

ab
lis

h
in

g
 t

h
e 

20
24

 S
ch

ed
u

le
 o

f 
R

eg
u

la
r 

M
ee

ti
n

g
s 

 (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
02

3-
12

-0
1 

E
st

ab
lis

h
in

g
 t

h
e 

20
24

 R
eg

u
la

r



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.C 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   2024 Holiday Calendar 

 

Attachments: 2024 Holiday Schedule (DOCX) 

 

7.C

Packet Pg. 17



  

 
 

2024 Holiday Schedule 
 

 
Holiday 

 

 
Observance Date 

 
Day of Week 

 
New Year’s Day 

 

 
January 1, 2024 

 
Monday 

 
Martin Luther King, Jr. 

Birthday 

 
January 15, 2024 

 
Monday 

 
Good Friday 

 

 
March 29, 2024 

 
Friday 

 
Memorial Day 

 

 
May 27, 2024 

 
Monday 

 
Juneteenth  

 

 
June 19, 2024 

 
Wednesday 

 
Independence Day 

 

 
July 4, 2024 

 
Thursday 

 
Labor Day 

 

 
September 2, 2024 

 
Monday 

 
Veterans Day 

 

 
November 11, 2024 

 
Monday 

 
Thanksgiving 

 

 
November 28 & 29, 2024 

 
Thursday & Friday 

 
Christmas 

 

 
December 24, 25 & 26, 

2024 

 
Tuesday, Wednesday & 

Thursday 
 

7.C.a

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
4 

H
o

lid
ay

 S
ch

ed
u

le
  (

20
24

 H
o

lid
ay

 S
ch

ed
u

le
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.D 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   October Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: October20231128102040116 (PDF) 

 

Summary:  October Monthly Report 

 

Recommendation:  Review and approve 

7.D

Packet Pg. 19



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

ct
o

b
er

20
23

11
28

10
20

40
11

6 
 (

T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.E 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Erin Burke, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Proposed SMWA System Transfer and Purchase Agreement 

 

Attachments: Camden - South Mills - System Transfer and Purchase 

Agreement 4860-1097-

2022 v.3 (DOCX) 

 
Summary: 

Attached for the Board's consideration is the proposed SMWA System Transfer and Purchase 

Agreement. 

Recommendation: 

Authorize the County Manager, in consultation with the County Attorney, to enter into the 

process for the system transfer and purchase of the South Mills Water Association.   

7.E

Packet Pg. 27



 

ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

SYSTEM TRANSFER AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

by and between 

CAMDEN COUNTY 

and 

SOUTH MILLS WATER ASSOCIATION, INCORPORATED 

dated as of 

_________________, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

[Insert Table of Contents for Final Version]

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



  WORKING DRAFT  

ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

SYSTEM TRANSFER AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

THIS SYSTEM TRANSFER AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into 

as of _________________, 2023 (the "Effective Date") by and between CAMDEN COUNTY, a 

political subdivision created and validly existing under the Laws of the State of North Carolina 

(the "County"), and SOUTH MILLS WATER ASSOCIATION, INCORPORATED, a North 

Carolina non-profit corporation (the "Seller").  County and Seller are from time to time referred 

to herein individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties." 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Seller is engaged in providing and distributing water utility services in 

Camden County, North Carolina (the "System"); 

WHEREAS, as contemplated by that certain non-binding term sheet dated May 19, 2023 

between County and Seller and related correspondence between the Parties, Seller desires to 

transfer all of the System Assets (as defined below) and County desires to acquire all of the System 

Assets; and 

WHEREAS, the governing bodies of County and Seller have approved, and deem it 

advisable to consummate, the acquisition of the System Assets by County, upon the terms and 

subject to the conditions set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and the mutual promises, 

covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the 

receipt and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally 

bound, hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 

TRANSFER OF ASSETS 

1.1 Transfer of System Assets.  

(a) System Assets.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and 

in reliance upon the covenants, agreements, representations and warranties set forth in this 

Agreement, at the Closing, Seller shall transfer to County, free and clear of any Encumbrances 

except for the Permitted Encumbrances, and County shall purchase from Seller, all of Seller’s 

rights, title and interest in and to, the following assets pertaining to, or used in connection with the 

System (collectively, the "System Assets"): 

(i) the Seller's administrative office building, all water tanks and all 

distribution, collection and other pipes, drains, towers and lines as set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(i);  

(ii) the equipment, machinery, vehicles, furniture, fixtures, computer hardware 

and related peripheral equipment and other tangible personal property set forth on Schedule 

1.1(a)(ii);  

(iii) all supplies, tools, raw materials, parts, work in process and inventories used 

or held for use by Seller for the System Assets as set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(iii); 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 2 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

(iv) all Permits to the extent transferable as set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(iv);  

(v) the Assumed Contracts as set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(v); 

(vi) originals, or where not available, copies, of all books and records relating 

to the System, including all accounting records, quality control records and procedures, customer 

lists, engineering drawings, service and warranty records, equipment logs, operating guides and 

manuals, documents, data and other materials and information;  

(vii) all prepaid expenses, advance payments, claims, refunds and deposits;  

(viii) all rights and claims under warranties, indemnities and similar rights against 

third parties to the extent assignable and related to any System Assets or Assumed Liabilities;  

(ix) all equitable claims and rights, including all claims and rights arising under 

operation of Law, with respect to any and all System Assets and Assumed Liabilities;  

(x) all Real Property (as defined herein); and 

(xi) all monies held in Seller's bank accounts set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(xi); 

subject to the post-closing conditions set forth in Article 4.8. 

(b) Consideration for System Assets.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of 

this Agreement, in consideration for the conveyance, assignment, transfer and delivery by Seller 

to County of the System Assets: 

(i) At the Closing, County will pay to Seller an amount equal to One Dollar 

($1.00) (the "Purchase Price") in cash or immediately available funds. 

(ii) At the Closing, County will assume the Assumed Liabilities by executing 

and delivering the Assumption Agreement to Seller and Seller shall retain the Retained Liabilities. 

(c) Closing.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, and 

provided that all of the conditions set forth in Article 5 (other than those conditions that by their 

terms cannot be satisfied until the Closing) have been satisfied or waived, the Closing shall take 

place on December 29, 2023, or at such time and date as the Parties may agree.  The "Closing 

Date" means the date upon which the Closing actually occurs. The Closing shall take place 

electronically and remotely or, if the Parties agree, at the offices of County.  For economic and 

accounting purposes, the Closing shall be deemed to take effect at 11:59 PM ET on the Closing 

Date.  

ARTICLE 2 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER 

Seller represents and warrants to County as follows:  

2.1 Organization of Seller.  Seller is a validly existing non-profit corporation, existing 

as such under and by virtue of the Constitution and Laws of the State of North Carolina.  Seller 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 3 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

has all requisite power and authority to carry on the System as now being conducted and to own, 

use and hold for use the System Assets and the Real Property.  

2.2 Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by Seller of each of the 

Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party and the consummation by it of the 

Contemplated Transactions have been duly authorized by Seller’s Board of Directors, and no other 

action on the part of Seller is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by 

Seller of such Transaction Documents or the consummation by it of the Contemplated 

Transactions.  Seller has duly executed and delivered this Agreement.  

2.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. The execution, delivery and 

performance of the Transaction Documents to which Seller is or will be a party, and the 

consummation by Seller of the Contemplated Transactions, do not and will not, with or without 

notice or passage of time or both: (i) violate any Order applicable to Seller, the System or any of 

the System Assets, Real Property or Assumed Liabilities or (ii) result in the creation or imposition 

of any Encumbrance, other than Permitted Encumbrances, on any System Assets.  

2.4 Financial Statements. To the Knowledge of Seller, the financial statements 

described on Schedule 2.4 (collectively, the "Financial Statements") fairly present the financial 

condition and the results of operations and cash flows of Seller as at the respective dates of and for 

the periods referred to in the Financial Statements.  The Financial Statements have been prepared 

from and are in accordance with the accounting records of Seller. To the Knowledge of Seller, 

there are no outstanding claims, liabilities, obligations or indebtedness in connection with the 

System of any kind or nature, whether fixed or contingent, except as set forth in the Financial 

Statements, and except for liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since the date of 

the Financial Statements and of the kind and type reflected in the Financial Statements which are 

not, individually or in the aggregate, material in amount. 

2.5 Title.  Seller has, and at the Closing Seller will transfer to County, good and valid 

title to all the System Assets free and clear of all known Encumbrances other than Permitted 

Encumbrances.   

2.6 Absence of Certain Changes. Since January 1, 2023, Seller has conducted the 

System only in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice. Without limiting 

the generality of the foregoing, Seller has not since January 1, 2023: 

(a) permitted or allowed any of the System Assets to be subjected to any Encumbrances 

of any kind, except for Permitted Encumbrances; 

(b) sold, transferred, leased or otherwise disposed of any of the System Assets or any 

other properties or assets (real, personal or mixed, tangible or intangible) used or held for use in 

connection with the System, except in the Ordinary Course of Business, consistent with past 

practice;  

(c) entered into any contract or agreement in connection with the System outside the 

Ordinary Course of Business; 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 4 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

(d) amended, modified or terminated, or waived any right or claim under, any Assumed 

Contract; 

(e) incurred or assumed any liabilities in connection with the System, or paid, 

discharged, waived or released any liabilities or obligations of the System, in each case except in 

the Ordinary Course of Business;  

(f) changed its cash management practices and policies or its practices and procedures 

with respect to the collection of customer accounts receivable, in each case with respect to the 

System; or 

(g) agreed, whether in writing or otherwise, to take any action described in this Section 

2.6. 

2.7 Customers.  

(a) Maps. Schedule 2.7(a) contains maps which set forth the location of all of Seller’s 

known distribution, trunk, collection and other pipes, drains, towers, tanks and lines used or held 

for use in connection with the System.  Seller does not provide System services to any Person other 

than those customers set forth on the Customer Lists to be provided in accordance with Section 

4.9. 

(b) Customer Tap Fee List. Schedule 2.7(b) contains an accurate and complete list (the 

"Customer Tap Fee List") of all lots and units from which Seller has collected and retains a 

Customer Tap Fee, including a description of the fee or deposit, the account name and number, 

amount and date paid, size of meter(s), tax parcel number of the lot or unit and, with respect to 

each Customer Tap Fee listed on Schedule 2.7(b), a complete and accurate description of all of 

Seller’s obligations and liabilities with respect to such Customer Tap Fee.   

2.8 Real Property. 

(a) Real Property - Generally.   

(i) As used herein, "Real Property" means all or every parcel of real property 

owned in fee simple by Seller; Easements; and rights of way in which Seller has any right, title or 

interest, together with the use of all buildings, structures, improvements and fixtures located 

thereon or attached or appurtenant thereto.  Schedule 2.8(a)(i) sets forth each parcel of real property 

described above, including with each parcel, the address, location, and use. With respect to each 

parcel, (i) Seller has not leased or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy such 

parcel or any portion thereof; and (ii) to the Knowledge of Seller, there are no unrecorded 

outstanding options, rights of first offer or rights of first refusal to purchase such parcel or any 

portion thereof or interest therein. 

(ii) Seller has delivered to County copies of all deeds, title insurance policies 

and surveys relating to the Real Property, including all documents evidencing Encumbrances upon 

the Real Property that are in Seller’s possession. Seller is not liable for the contents of such 

materials provided. To Seller’s Knowledge, other than Permitted Encumbrances, there are no 

Encumbrances or disputes affecting any Real Property that might curtail or interfere with the use 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 5 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

of such property by County, and there are no pending or to Seller’s Knowledge threatened Actions, 

or outstanding Orders, relating to any Real Property, including Seller’s use of the Real Property.     

(b) Easement & Rights of Way.   

(i) Set forth on Schedule 2.8(b)(i) is a list of certain easements, rights of way, 

rights, privileges and appurtenances, including proofs of dedication, in which Seller has any right, 

title or interest and which are used or held solely for use by Seller in connection with the System.   

(ii) To the Knowledge of Seller, (A) Seller and its System operations are in 

compliance with all Easements and (B) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may 

(with or without notice, the passage of time or both) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a 

violation of or a failure to comply with any term of, or result directly or indirectly in the revocation, 

withdrawal, suspension or termination of, or any modification to, any such Easement.   

(c) Leased Property.  

(i) Seller leases from the South Mills Ruritan Club ("Club") the real property 

where its administrative office building ("Seller's Office") is located. A copy of the lease is 

attached as Schedule 2.8(c).  The Club reserves the right to approve any transfer of the lease. 

Therefore, the Club's lease is not part of the Real Property.  Seller will request that the Club allow 

the transfer of the lease to the County, but the County is responsible for the finalization of any 

assignment, negotiation of the lease, or removal of the Seller's Office (after Closing) if the lease is 

not assigned or otherwise entered into by the County.        

(ii) Seller is the a lessor of certain real property…...[Need to decide whether the 

lease to the farmer will be assigned or terminated at Closing.] 

2.9 Permits.  To the Knowledge of Seller, all Permits required for Seller to own and 

operate the System and the System Assets as currently conducted have been obtained by Seller, 

are valid and in full force and effect and are set forth on Schedule 2.9.  True and complete copies 

of all such Permits have heretofore been furnished to County. Seller is in compliance with all such 

Permits.  No event has occurred or circumstance exist that may (with or without notice, the passage 

of time or both) (a) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation of or a failure to comply 

with any term or requirement of any such Permit or (b) result directly or indirectly in the 

revocation, withdrawal, suspension or termination of, or any modification to, any such Permit. 

2.10 Plant, Equipment, and Inventory.   

(a) Sufficiency of Assets.  Except as set forth on Schedule 2.10(a), the System Assets 

are sufficient for the continued conduct of the System after the Closing in substantially the same 

manner as conducted by Seller prior to the Closing and constitute all of the rights, properties and 

assets necessary to conduct the System as currently conducted.   

(b) Condition of Assets.  Seller has operated and maintained the System Assets in 

accordance with prudent industry standards applicable to the ownership and operation of similar 

utility systems.   

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 6 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

2.11 Environmental Matters. 

(a) Compliance. To Seller’s Knowledge, Seller is in full compliance with all 

Environmental Laws relating to the System, including the possession by Seller of all Permits 

required under all applicable Environmental Laws and compliance with the terms and conditions 

thereof. Each Permit currently held by Seller relating to the System pursuant to the Environmental 

Laws is identified in Schedule 2.11(a). 

(b) Notice of Violation. Since January 1, 2022, Seller has not received any 

communication (written or oral), whether from a Governmental Authority, citizens group, 

employee or otherwise, that states, claims or alleges that Seller is not in full compliance with any 

Environmental Laws relating to the System, and there are no circumstances that may prevent or 

interfere with such full compliance in the future.  Seller has delivered to County prior to the 

execution of this Agreement all information that is in the possession of or reasonably available to 

Seller regarding Environmental Claims, and environmental matters pertaining to, or the 

environmental condition of, the System or the compliance (or non-compliance) of Seller with any 

Environmental Laws relating to the System. 

(c) Pending Claims. There is no Environmental Claim by any Person that is pending 

or threatened against the System, or against any Person whose liability for any Environmental 

Claim Seller has retained or assumed either contractually or by operation of law relating to the 

System.   

(d) Hazardous Materials. To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no past or present 

actions, activities, circumstances, conditions, events or incidents, including the release, threatened 

release, emission, discharge, presence or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, that could form the 

basis of any Environmental Claim against Seller relating to the System or, to the Knowledge of 

Seller, against any Person whose liability for any Environmental Claim relating to the System 

Seller has retained or assumed either contractually or by operation of law. 

(e) Hazardous Conditions. Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, 

(i) all locations where Seller has (previously or currently) stored, disposed of or arranged for the 

disposal of Hazardous Materials relating to the System are identified in Schedule 2.11(e)(i); (ii) 

all underground storage tanks, and the capacity and contents of such tanks, located on any property 

to be transferred by Seller pursuant to this Agreement relating to the System are specifically 

identified in Schedule 2.11(e)(ii). 

(f) Environmental Reports. Seller has provided to County a copy of each assessment, 

report, datum, result of investigations or audit, and other information that is in the possession of 

Seller regarding Environmental Claims or environmental matters pertaining to the environmental 

condition of the System or the compliance (or noncompliance) by the System with any 

Environmental Laws. 

(g) Compliance with Laws. To the Knowledge of Seller, Seller is in full compliance 

with any Environmental Laws relating to the System requiring (i) the performance of site 

assessment for Hazardous Materials, or (ii) the removal or remediation of Hazardous Materials.  

2.12 Contracts.  

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 7 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

(a) Neither Seller nor, to Seller’s Knowledge, any other party thereto is in breach of or 

default under (or is alleged to be in breach of or default under), or has provided or received any 

notice of any intention to terminate, any Assumed Contract.  However, Seller does not warrant that 

the Assumed Contracts are assignable to County in whole or in part.  Complete and correct copies 

of each Assumed Contract (including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and 

waivers thereunder) have been delivered to County.  There are no disputes pending or threatened 

under any Assumed Contract. 

(b) Except for any contracts and agreements with or for the benefit of Seller's 

employees, and except for the Assumed Contracts and Easements, there are no other contracts or 

agreements (i) by which any of the System Assets are bound or affected or (ii) to which Seller is a 

party or by which it is bound in connection with the System or the System Assets.   

2.13 Insurance.  There are no claims related to the System, the System Assets, or the 

Assumed Liabilities pending under any policies as to which coverage has been questioned, denied 

or disputed or in respect of which there is an outstanding reservation of rights. Seller has not 

received any notice from any insurance company that has issued a policy, requiring or 

recommending any repairs or work to be done on any part of the System Assets, other than repairs 

or other work that has been completed. 

2.14 Litigation. There is no Action pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened 

relating to or involving the System, the System Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities that challenges 

or seeks to restrain, enjoin or otherwise prohibit the consummation of the Contemplated 

Transactions, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there is no valid basis for any such Action.  There 

are no outstanding Orders relating to or involving the System, the System Assets, or the Assumed 

Liabilities.   

2.15 Compliance with Laws.  Since January 1, 2023, Seller has not received any notice 

that it is in violation of any applicable building, zoning, health or other Law in respect of the 

System, the System Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities.   

2.16 Brokers or Finders. No agent, broker, banker, advisor or other Person is or will 

be entitled to any brokers’ or finder’s fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection 

with any of the Contemplated Transactions. 

2.17 USDA Loans.  Seller was party to multiple agreements with the United States 

Department of Agriculture ("USDA") that included loans and a grant, which are set forth on 

Schedule 2.17.  Seller has paid off the USDA loans.  County agrees that any USDA grant 

obligations are and shall be an Assumed Liability.  

ARTICLE 3 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF COUNTY 

County represents and warrants to Seller that: 

3.1 Organization. County is a political subdivision created and validly existing under 

the Laws of the State.  

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 8 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

3.2 Authorization; Validity of Agreement. County has all requisite power and 

authority to execute and deliver all Transaction Documents to which it is or will be a party, to 

perform its obligations thereunder and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. The 

execution, delivery and performance by County of each of the Transaction Documents to which it 

is or will be a party and the consummation by it of the Contemplated Transactions have been duly 

authorized by County’s Board of Commissioners, and no other action on the part of County is 

necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by County of such Transaction 

Documents or the consummation by it of the Contemplated Transactions.  County has duly 

executed and delivered this Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes, together with  the other 

Transaction Documents to which County is or will be a party will constitute (upon execution and 

delivery by County and the other parties thereto), the legal, valid and binding obligation of County, 

enforceable against County in accordance with its term, except as enforcement thereof may be 

limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the 

enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles. 

3.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations.  Delivery and performance of the 

Transaction Documents to which County is or will be a party, and the consummation by County 

of the Contemplated Transactions, do not and will not, with or without notice or passage of time 

or both: (a) require any filing with, or permit, authorization, consent or approval of, any 

Governmental Authority or any other Person, (b) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute a 

default (or give rise to any right of termination, amendment or acceleration) under, or require any 

consent, approval or waiver under, any agreement, contract or instrument to which County is a 

party, or (c) violate any Order or Law applicable to County. 

3.4 Brokers or Finders. No agent, broker, banker, advisor or other Person is or will 

be entitled to any brokers’ or finder’s fee or any other commission or similar fee in connection 

with any of the Contemplated Transactions. 

3.5 COUNTY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SELLER HAS NOT MADE, AND 

SELLER HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY COVENANT, REPRESENTATION OR 

WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, RELATING TO THE CONDITION OF ANY REAL 

PROPERTY, BUILDINGS, FACILITIES, EQUIPMENT, INVENTORY, MACHINERY, 

FIXTURES AND PERSONAL/MOVABLE PROPERTY CONSTITUTING ALL OR ANY 

PART OF THE SYSTEM ASSETS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "TANGIBLE PROPERTY"), 

INCLUDING ANY AND ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES EXISTING UNDER APPLICABLE 

LAW IN EFFECT NOW OR IN THE FUTURE, IT BEING THE EXPRESS INTENTION OF 

SELLER AND COUNTY THAT THE TANGIBLE PROPERTY SHALL BE CONVEYED TO 

COUNTY AS IS AND IN THEIR PRESENT CONDITION AND STATE OF 

REPAIR.  COUNTY REPRESENTS TO SELLER THAT COUNTY HAS MADE OR CAUSED 

TO BE MADE SUCH INSPECTIONS WITH RESPECT TO THE TANGIBLE PROPERTY AS 

COUNTY DEEMS APPROPRIATE AND COUNTY WILL ACCEPT THE 

TANGIBLE PROPERTY AS IS, WHERE IS, IN THEIR PRESENT CONDITION AND STATE 

OF REPAIR. 

COVENANTS 

4.1 Interim Systems Operations.  Except as required by this Agreement, prior to 

Closing, Seller shall conduct the System in the Ordinary Course of Business.     

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/buyer-acknowledges
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/representation-or-warranty
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/representation-or-warranty
https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/relating-to
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/condition-of
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/movable-property
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/the-assets
https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/tangible-property
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/implied-warranties
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/applicable-law
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/applicable-law
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/in-effect
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/the-future
https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/to-buyer
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/present-condition
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/state-of-repair
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/state-of-repair
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/buyer-represents
https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/to-seller
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/with-respect-to
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/buyer-will
https://www.lawinsider.com/clause/property-as-is


 

 

 9 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

4.2 Access.  Prior to Closing, Seller shall afford County and its representatives 

reasonable access to all facilities of Seller used or held for use in connection with the System and 

permit County to make such inspections as it may reasonably require. In addition, Seller shall 

furnish County with such operating data, books, records and other information relating to the 

System as County may from time to time reasonably request. County and its representatives may, 

with reasonable prior notice and without unreasonably interfering with Seller’s operations, conduct 

such diligence and investigations of the System as County deems reasonably necessary or 

appropriate, including (a) conducting one or more surveys of certain parcels of the Real Property, 

(b) performing water system sampling, (c) performing soil, surface and ground water sampling, 

monitoring, borings and testing and any other tests, investigations, audits, assessments, studies, 

inspections or other procedures relating to environmental conditions or Hazardous Materials and 

(d) conducting financial analyses with respect to the System and System Assets. Seller shall 

cooperate with County and its representatives in conducting such diligence and investigations and 

shall provide to County and its representatives all soil, surface and ground water tests and reports, 

and environmental investigation reports, assessments and results, relating to the System or the Real 

Property that are in the possession or control of Seller.     

4.3 Pre-Closing Actions.   

(a) Efforts to Close. Prior to Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of 

this Agreement, County and Seller shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to take, or 

cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done and cooperate with each other in order 

to do, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the Contemplated Transactions 

promptly, including the preparation and filing of all forms, documents, filings and notices required 

to be filed to consummate the Contemplated Transactions and the taking of such actions as are 

necessary to obtain any approvals, authorizations, consents, or waivers of any third party or 

Governmental Authority.  

(b) Material Adverse Change. Prior to the Closing, Seller shall promptly notify County 

in writing of any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence or occurrence of which (i) has 

had, or could reasonably be expected to result in, individually or in the aggregate, with or without 

the passage of time, a material adverse change in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), 

assets or results of operations of the System, or (ii) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected 

to result in, any representation or warranty made by Seller hereunder not being true and correct or 

the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 5.2 to be satisfied.  In addition, Seller shall 

promptly notify County of any Action commenced or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against 

or relating to the System, the System Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities or the consummation of 

the Contemplated Transactions. 

(c) Material Adverse Change. Prior to the Closing, County shall promptly notify Seller 

in writing of any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence or occurrence of which (i) has 

had, or could reasonably be expected to result in, individually or in the aggregate, with or without 

the passage of time, a material adverse change in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), 

assets or results of operations of the System, or (ii) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected 

to result in, any representation or warranty made by County hereunder not being true and correct 

or the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Section 5.3 to be satisfied.  In addition, County 

shall promptly notify Seller of any Action commenced or, to county's knowledge, threatened 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 10 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

against or relating to the System, the System Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities or the 

consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. 

4.4 Closing Deliverables. At Closing, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions 

contained herein:Seller Deliveries. Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered to County the 

following: 

(i) a bill of sale in the form attached as Exhibit A, executed by Seller; 

(ii) a deed in recordable form with respect to the Real Property in the form of 

Exhibit B attached hereto, executed by Seller; 

(iii) an assignment and assumption agreement (the "Assumption Agreement"), 

in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, with respect to all Assumed Contracts, executed by Seller; 

(iv) an assignment of Easements in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto, 

executed by Seller; 

(v) all other easements, endorsements, assignments and other instruments as are 

necessary, or reasonably requested by County, to vest in County title to the System Assets, 

executed by Seller; and 

(vi) such other documents or instruments as are necessary to consummate the 

Contemplated Transactions. 

(b) County Deliveries. County shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Seller the 

following: 

(i) the Assumption Agreement, executed by County;  

(ii) a certificate, certifying: (A) as complete and accurate all requisite 

resolutions or actions of the County Board of Commissioners approving the execution and delivery 

of each of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions 

and (B) the incumbency and signatures of the County manager and other officers of County 

executing this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, executed by the County manager 

and such other officers; 

(iii) a certificate, certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in 

Sections 5.3(a) and 5.3(b), executed by the County manager or other County officer;  

(iv) a payment (the "Cash Payment") in an aggregate amount equal to the sum 

of the Purchase Price, by check; and 

(v) such other documents or instruments as are necessary, or reasonably 

requested by Seller, to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. 

4.5  Pro-Rations. The charges set forth on Schedule 4.5 (collectively, the "Charges") 

shall be prorated on a per diem basis and apportioned between Seller and County at Closing.  Seller 

shall be liable for that portion of the Charges relating to, or arising in respect of, periods on or prior 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 11 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

to the Closing Date, and County shall be liable for that portion of the Charges relating to, or arising 

in respect of, any period after the Closing Date.  If the amount of any item to be prorated under 

this Section 4.5 cannot be determined at Closing, then the proration shall be made on the basis of 

the best available information, and the Parties shall re-prorate the item promptly upon receipt of 

the applicable bills and shall make any equitable adjustment required due to any difference 

between the estimated amount used as a basis for the proration at Closing and the actual amount 

subject to proration.   

4.6 Public Announcement.  After the Closing, the Parties shall prepare and issue a 

joint public announcement with respect to the Contemplated Transactions, the form and content of 

which shall be mutually agreed by the Parties. 

4.7 Employee Matters.  The Parties acknowledge that, following the Closing, Seller 

does not intend to continue to employ the employees of the System except as may be necessary to 

wind down the operations of the Seller.  County will use its best efforts to rehire and employ 

Seller's existing employees after the Closing, subject to County's employment practices, 

employment checks, and terms of compensation and qualifications. 

4.8 Post-Closing Matters.  Delivery of System Assets. After the Closing, the Parties 

shall execute and deliver all deeds, bills of sale, instruments of conveyance, assignments and other 

documents and take and do all such other actions and things as necessary, or reasonably requested 

by County, to assign and transfer to County all of Seller’s rights, title and interest in and to the 

System Assets.  Furthermore, each Party will cooperate with the other Party and execute and 

deliver to the other Party such other instruments and documents and take such other actions as may 

be reasonably requested from time to time by the other Party as necessary or advisable to carry out 

and evidence the purposes of this Agreement and to properly transition the System to County.  

After the Closing, Seller will permit County’s representatives to have reasonable access during 

normal business hours to Seller’s properties in order to remove any System Assets located on such 

properties, and Seller will cooperate with County in facilitating such removal.   

(b) Mail and Records. After the Closing, Seller shall forward and deliver to County all 

mail, notices and other correspondence received by Seller relating to the System or the System 

Assets.  After the Closing, during normal business hours, Seller will permit County’s 

representatives to have reasonable access to and examine any books and records of Seller relating 

to the System that are not delivered to County pursuant to this Agreement.  Seller agrees not to 

destroy any such books and records except in accordance with the applicable State Records 

Retention Schedule. 

(c) Transfer of Payments.  After the Closing, if Seller receives or collects any payments 

for the System or other utility services provided by County after the Closing Date, or any other 

funds relating to any Assumed Contract or Purchased Asset, Seller shall remit such payments and 

funds to County promptly after its receipt thereof, with the exception of any delinquent account 

collections received by Seller.  Likewise, if County receives or collects any payments for the 

System or other utility services provided by Seller after the Closing Date, County shall remit such 

payments and funds to Seller promptly after its receipt thereof. 

(d) Cooperation. After the Closing, the Parties shall cooperate with each other as 

reasonably requested by the other Party in order to facilitate the transition of the System to County.  

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 12 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

To the extent that Seller’s rights under any Assumed Contract, or any other Purchased Asset, may 

not be assigned to County without the consent of another Person which has not been obtained, this 

Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to assign the same if an attempted assignment would 

constitute a breach thereof or be unlawful.  Notwithstanding any provision in this Section 4.8(d) 

to the contrary, no Party shall be deemed to have waived it rights under Section 5.1(b), Section 

5.2(f) or Section 5.3(e) unless and until such Party provides a written waiver thereof. 

(e) Seller's Office.  County acknowledges that Seller intends to dissolve itself as a legal 

entity following the Closing, but Seller will continue to require office and meeting space after 

Closing in order to operate while it concludes operations.  Therefore, County agrees to allow Seller 

to maintain ownership of the Seller's Office until no later than December 31, 2024.  The Parties 

agree that Seller shall transfer title to the Seller's Office upon Seller's dissolution or December 31, 

2024, whichever occurs first.  

(f) Seller's Bank Accounts.  County acknowledges and agrees that Seller will  incur 

post-closing expenses.  Therefore, the Seller shall maintain exclusive control of its monies held in 

its bank accounts set forth on Schedule 1.1(a)(xi) after closing (the "Retained Accounts").  

Immediately before final dissolution of the Seller as a legal entity, Seller shall transfer any monies 

remaining, if any, in the Retained Accounts to County, and County agrees to use such monies only 

for the betterment of the System.           

4.9 Customer List, Deposits, Payments and Taps.  

(a) Customer List.  Seller shall provide County with a complete and accurate list (the 

"Customer List") of the following information with respect to each System customer, including 

all active System accounts (collectively, the "Customer Information"): name; address; account 

number; the date and amount of the most recent invoice issued to such customer (whether or not 

such invoice has been paid); the meter reading applicable to such recent invoice; the date and 

amount of all other outstanding invoices due from such customer; the most recent meter reading 

(and date thereof); and, to the extent available, email address and phone number.   

(b) Customer Deposits.  The Parties agree that Seller will transfer the Customer 

Deposits to County.   

(c) Customer Invoicing.  After the Closing, County shall issue all invoices to System 

customers for System services.  Seller shall be entitled to all amounts due from System customers 

for System services with respect to periods ending on or prior to the Closing Date.  County shall 

be entitled to all amounts due from System customers for System services with respect to all 

periods after the Closing Date.  With respect to any payment received from a System customer for 

System services for a period which begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing 

Date, the payment shall be prorated on a per diem basis for such period using the pre-Closing 

meter reading provided by Seller and the post-Closing meter reading by County and apportioned 

between the Parties as contemplated above in this Section 4.9(c).  After the Closing, if a Party 

receives any amount to which the other Party is entitled under this Section 4.9, the receiving Party 

shall remit such amount to such other Party within thirty (30) days of receipt.   

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 13 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

(d) New Lines.  Prior to the Closing, Seller shall not, without the prior written consent 

of County, provide, or agree to provide, System services to any Person which would require the 

installation or construction of any distribution, collection pipe, line, or water tank.   

ARTICLE 5 

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING 

5.1 Conditions to the Obligations of All Parties. The obligation of each Party to 

consummate the Contemplated Transactions is subject to the fulfillment or satisfaction, on or prior 

to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions: 

(a) Government Action.  No Governmental Authority shall have issued or entered any 

Order or taken any other action, which has not been rescinded and which has the effect of making 

the Contemplated Transactions illegal or otherwise restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the 

consummation of the Contemplated Transactions. 

(b) Consents.  All consents, authorizations and approvals of any Governmental 

Authority required to be obtained before consummation of the Contemplated Transactions shall 

have been obtained. 

5.2 Conditions to Obligation of County to Effect the Closing. The obligation of 

County to consummate the Contemplated Transactions is subject to the fulfillment or satisfaction, 

on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions: 

(a) Seller Covenants.  Seller shall have in all material respects performed and complied 

with the obligations and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with 

by Seller on or prior to the Closing Date.  

(b) Closing Deliveries.  Seller shall have delivered, and duly executed where 

appropriate, to County each of the items set forth in Section 4.4(a), and County shall have received 

all other Transaction Documents, duly executed where appropriate, which Seller is obligated to 

deliver at or prior to Closing.   

(c) Litigation.  There shall not have been commenced against County any Action by 

any third party (i) involving any challenge to, or seeking damages or other relief in connection 

with, any of the Contemplated Transactions or (ii) that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, 

making illegal, imposing limitations or conditions on or otherwise interfering with any of the 

Contemplated Transactions. 

(d) Releases.  Seller shall have obtained releases of, or shall otherwise have made 

provision satisfactory to County for the release of, all Encumbrances upon the System Assets, 

except for Permitted Encumbrances. 

(e) Material Adverse Change.  There shall not have occurred any material adverse 

change (or any event or events that, individually or in the aggregate, with or without the passage 

of time, could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change) in the business, 

condition (financial or otherwise), assets or results of operations of the System. 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 14 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of County and may be waived by County, in 

whole or in part, at any time in the sole discretion of County. 

5.3 Conditions to Obligation of Seller to Effect the Closing. The obligation of Seller 

to consummate the Contemplated Transactions is subject to the fulfillment or satisfaction, on or 

prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions: 

(a) County Covenants.  County shall have in all material respects performed and 

complied with the obligations and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or 

complied with by County on or prior to the Closing Date, and Seller shall have received a 

certificate from a duly authorized officer of County, dated the Closing Date, to such effect.  

(b) Closing Deliveries.  County shall have delivered, and duly executed where 

appropriate, to Seller each of the items set forth in Section 4.4(b), and Seller shall have received 

all other Transaction Documents, duly executed where appropriate, which County is obligated to 

deliver at or prior to Closing. County shall have delivered the Cash Payment to Seller. 

(c) Litigation.  There shall not have been commenced or threatened against Seller any 

Action by any third party (i) involving any challenge to, or seeking damages or other relief in 

connection with, any of the Contemplated Transactions or (ii) that may have the effect of 

preventing, delaying, making illegal, imposing limitations or conditions on or otherwise interfering 

with any of the Contemplated Transactions. 

The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Seller and may be waived by Seller, in whole 

or in part, at any time in the sole discretion of Seller. 

ARTICLE 6 

TERMINATION 

6.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing 

Date: 

(a) By the mutual written consent of County and Seller; 

(b) By County or Seller, by written notice to the other Party, if any Governmental 

Authority (other than the Parties) shall have issued or entered any Order or taken any other action, 

which has the effect of frustrating the Contemplated Transactions or otherwise restrains, enjoins 

or otherwise prohibits the Contemplated Transactions; 

(c) By Seller, by written notice to County, if County refuses to consummate the 

Contemplated Transactions without cause or County breaches in any material respect any of its 

representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, and such breach 

has not been cured by County within ten (10) days after its receipt of written notice of such breach 

from Seller; 

(d) By County, by written notice to Seller, if Seller refuses to consummate the 

Contemplated Transactions without cause or shall have breached in any material respect any of its 

representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, and such breach 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 15 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

has not been cured by Seller within ten (10) days after its receipt of written notice of such breach 

from County;  

(e) By County or Seller, by written notice to the other Party, in the event the Closing 

has not taken place by June 30, 2024. 

6.2 Effect of Termination.   

(a) Upon the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 6.1, the Parties 

shall have no further liability or obligation under this Agreement except (i) that no such termination 

shall relieve any Party from liability set forth in Subsection 6.2 (b) and (ii) that the obligations and 

liabilities arising under this Section 6.2 and Section 8.1 shall remain in full force and survive such 

termination of this Agreement. 

(b) The Parties acknowledge that each has expended considerable time, effort and 

expense in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Therefore, the 

Parties agree to liquidated damages in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) 

(the "Breakup Fee") in the event this Agreement is terminated by a Party pursuant to: 

(i) Subsections 6.1 (b) or (e).  The terminating Party shall pay to the 

non-terminating Party the Breakup Fee. 

(ii) Subsections 6.1 (c) or (d).  The breaching Party shall pay to the non-

breaching Party the Breakup Fee.   

The Parties agree that the foregoing provisions and the Breakup Fee are fair and reasonable in light 

of the anticipated or actual harm caused by termination covered by this Section 6.2, and reflect a 

reasonable assessment of the difficulties of proof of loss and the inconvenience or non-feasibility 

of otherwise obtaining an adequate remedy. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 

contrary, in the event that the Breakup Fee is paid, then payment of the Breakup Fee shall be the 

non-paying Party's sole and exclusive remedy as liquidated or any other type of damages for any 

and all losses or damages of any nature against the other Party and its former, current and future 

commissioners, directors, officers, employees, agents, shareholders, affiliates and assignees and 

each former, current or future commissioner, director, officer, employee, agent, shareholder, 

affiliate or assignee of any of the foregoing in respect of this Agreement and the transactions 

contemplated hereby, including for any loss or damage suffered as a result of the termination of 

this Agreement, the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or for 

a breach or failure to perform hereunder or otherwise, and upon payment of such Breakup Fee the 

paying Party shall have no further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement 

or the transactions contemplated hereby. 

ARTICLE 7 

SURVIVAL 

7.1  Survival.  Sections 6.2, 8.1 and the representations and warranties contained in 

this Agreement, including those set forth in Article 3, and in the other Transaction 

Documents shall survive Closing. 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 16 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

 

ARTICLE 8 

MISCELLANEOUS 

8.1 Expenses.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, each Party 

shall bear its expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and performance of the 

Transaction Documents and the Contemplated Transactions, including all fees and expenses of 

counsel.Notices. All notices, consents, waivers and other communications under this Agreement 

must be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly delivered and received (a) when delivered 

personally or (b) one business day after being sent by a nationally recognized overnight delivery 

service (charges prepaid), in each case to the appropriate physical addresses set forth below (or to 

such other physical addresses as a Party may designate by notice in writing to the other Parties): 

If to County: 

 

 

Camden County 

330 US-158 

Camden, NC 27921 

Attn: County Manager 

 

with copy to: 

(which copy shall not 

constitute notice) 

The Twiford Law Firm, P.C.  

203 North Road Street 

Elizabeth City, NC 27907-0099 

Attn: Mr. John Morrison 

 

If to Seller: South Mills Water Association, Incorporated 

103 Halstead Street 

South Mills, NC 279south76-0279  

Attn: Board President 

 

with copy to: 

(which copy shall not 

constitute notice) 

Ward and Smith, P.A. 

1001 College Court 

New Bern, NC 28562 

Attn: James Norment 

 

8.3 Entire Agreement, Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement constitutes the 

entire agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, 

among the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement may be amended 

only by a written instrument signed by all Parties expressly stating that such instrument is intended 

to amend this Agreement.  A Party’s failure or delay in exercising any right, power or privilege 

under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents will not operate as a waiver of such 

right, power or privilege, and no single or partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege 

will preclude any other or further exercise of such right, power or privilege or the exercise of any 

other right, power or privilege.  A waiver by any Party of any term or condition of this Agreement 

in any one instance shall not be deemed or construed to be a waiver of such term or condition in 

any other instance in the future (whether similar or dissimilar) or of any subsequent breach hereof. 

8.4 Time of Essence.  Each Party agrees that, with regard to all dates and time periods 

set forth or referred to in this Agreement, time is of the essence. 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 17 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

8.5 Assignments, Binding Nature and No Third Party Rights.  Neither this 

Agreement nor any of the rights, liabilities or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated 

by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party. This Agreement shall be 

binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Parties and their respective 

successors and permitted assigns. No such assignment shall release the assigning Party from any 

liability or obligation under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party.  

Any such assignment made in breach of this Section 8.5 will be void and of no force or effect.  (a) 

Nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement will be construed to give any Person other than 

the Parties any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement 

and (b) this Agreement and all of its terms and conditions are for the sole and exclusive benefit of 

the Parties and their successors and permitted assigns. 

8.6 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable 

by any court of competent jurisdiction, the other provisions of this Agreement will remain in full 

force and effect. Any provision of this Agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part or 

degree will remain in full force and effect to the extent not held invalid or unenforceable. 

8.7 Governing Law.  This Agreement and all matters arising out of or in connection 

with this Agreement and its Exhibits and Schedules (whether arising in contract, tort, equity or 

otherwise), including the construction and interpretation thereof, shall be governed by the Laws of 

the State of North Carolina without regard to conflicts of laws principles. 

8.8 Electronic Signature. This Agreement may be executed in two or more 

counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of 

which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.  This 

Agreement may be executed by one or more facsimile signatures, or signatures transmitted by 

other electronic means (including via e-mail in a .pdf copy).  The Parties agree that any signature, 

whether it be electronic, digital or a .pdf copy of a manual signature, is intended to authenticate 

this Agreement and shall have the same effect as a manual or original signature. 

8.9 Construction and Interpretation.  The headings of Sections and Articles in this 

Agreement are provided for convenience only and will not affect its construction or interpretation.  

All references to a "Section" or "Article" refer to the corresponding Section or Article of this 

Agreement, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement.  The Parties have 

participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement.  If an ambiguity or question 

of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the 

Parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by 

virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.  In this Agreement unless a 

clear contrary intention appears: (a) reference to any agreement or instrument means such 

agreement or instrument as amended or modified and in effect from time to time in accordance 

with the terms thereof; (b) "hereunder," "hereof," "hereto" and words of similar import shall be 

deemed references to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other 

provision thereof; (c) "including" (and with correlative meaning "include") means including 

without limiting the generality of any description preceding such term; and (d) the terms "dollars" 

and "$" mean United States Dollars. Neither the specification of any amount nor the inclusion of 

any specific item or matter in any provision of this Agreement or in any Schedule or Exhibit is 

intended to imply that such amount, or higher or lower amount, or such item or matter, is or is not 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 18 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

material.  No remedy conferred herein upon or reserved to a Party is intended to be exclusive and 

every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given 

hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or equity.   

8.10 Schedules and Exhibits. The Schedules and Exhibits identified in this Agreement 

are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.  No disclosure made on any Schedule 

with respect to any representation or warranty shall be deemed to disclose an exception with 

respect to any other representation or warranty.  The disclosures made in any Schedule will be 

deemed disclosed for purposes of the Section or subsection of the Agreement that corresponds in 

number to the relevant Section or subsection of such Schedule and, except as expressly set forth 

in such Schedule, will not be deemed or construed as a disclosure or exception with respect to any 

other provision of this Agreement.  No disclosure in the Schedules relating to any possible breach 

or violation of any agreement or Law shall be construed as an admission or indication that any 

such breach or violation exists or has actually occurred.  In the event of any inconsistency between 

the statements in the body of this Agreement and those in any Schedule (other than an exception 

expressly set forth as such in a Schedule), the statements in the body of this Agreement will control. 

8.11 Definitions.  For all purposes of this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly 

provided or unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

 "Action" means any actual claim, demand, action, cause of action, lawsuit, litigation, arbitration, 

inquiry, notice of violation, audit, proceeding, summons, subpoena or investigation of any kind or 

nature, whether at law or in equity and whether civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or 

otherwise. 

"Agreement" means this System Transfer Agreement, together with the Exhibits and the 

Schedules attached hereto, as amended from time to time. 

"Assumed Contracts" means the contracts listed on Schedule 1.1(a)(v) 

"Assumed Liabilities" means (a) all obligations and liabilities of Seller arising in the Ordinary 

Course of Business after the Closing Date under the Assumed Contracts excluding any obligations 

and liabilities arising as a result of any breach or default thereof on or prior to the Closing Date; 

(b) all obligations and liabilities of Seller arising in the Ordinary Course of Business after the 

Closing Date under the Easements excluding any obligations and liabilities arising as a result of 

any breach or default thereof on or prior to the Closing Date; (c) the obligations and liabilities of 

Seller specifically identified on Schedule 2.7(b) with respect to the Customer Tap Fees listed on 

Schedule 2.7(b); and (d) all obligations and liabilities of Seller arising from all agreements and 

contracts with the United States Department of Agriculture.   

"Assumption Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a)(iii). 

"Cash Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(b)(iv). 

"Charges" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.5. 

"Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1. 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 19 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(c). 

"Contemplated Transactions" means all the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and 

the other Transaction Documents. 

"County" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

"Customer Deposits" means all deposits received by Seller from System customers with respect 

to the System services, except Customer Tap Fees.    

"Customer Tap Fee List" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(b). 

"Customer Tap Fees" means all tap fees and deposits collected by Seller from a System customer 

(or prospective Systems customer) in connection with any agreement by Seller to provide such 

customer with System services.   

"Customer Information" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(a). 

"Customer List" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.9(a). 

 "Easements" means all easements, rights of way, rights, privileges and appurtenances, including 

proofs of dedication, in which Seller has any right, title or interest and which are used or held 

solely for use by Seller in connection with the System.   

"Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

"Encumbrances" means any and all liens, charges, security interests, options, claims, mortgages, 

pledges, proxies, voting trusts or agreements, obligations, covenants, easements, servitudes, rights 

of way, encroachments, understandings or arrangements or other restrictions on title or transfer of 

any nature whatsoever. 

"Environmental Claim" means any Action, including any enforcement matter, investigation or 

notice (written or oral), by any Person alleging actual or potential liability for non-compliance, 

investigatory, cleanup or governmental response costs, or natural resources or property damages, 

or personal injuries, attorney’s fees or penalties relating to (a) the presence, release, or threatened 

release of any Hazardous Materials at any location owned or operated by Seller, now or in the past, 

(b) the presence, release, or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials at any location to which 

Seller transported or arranged for transportation of Hazardous Materials, now or in the past, (c) 

circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or alleged violation, of any Environmental Law, 

or (d) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials by Seller. 

"Environmental Law" means each and every Law relating to pollution, protection or preservation 

of human health, human safety or the environment including ambient air, surface water, ground 

water, land surface or subsurface strata, and natural resources, and including each law and 

regulation relating to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of Hazardous 

Materials, or otherwise relating to the manufacturing, processing, distribution, use, treatment, 

generation, storage, containment (whether above ground or underground), disposal, transport or 

handling of Hazardous Materials, or the preservation of the environment or mitigation of adverse 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 20 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

effects thereon and each Law with regard to, without limitation, compliance, record keeping, 

notification, disclosure and reporting requirements respecting Hazardous Materials. 

"Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4. 

"Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local or foreign government, or any court, 

governmental division or department, administrative agency or commission or other governmental 

or quasi-governmental authority or instrumentality of any nature, domestic or foreign or any 

arbitral tribunal. 

"Hazardous Materials" means chemicals; pollutants; contaminants; wastes; toxic or hazardous 

substances (including substances listed as hazardous under the United States Comprehensive 

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), the Resources 

Conservation Recovery Act (RCRA), and the North Carolina Inactive Hazardous Substances Act), 

materials and wastes; petroleum and petroleum products; asbestos and asbestos-containing 

materials; polychlorinated biphenyls; lead and lead-based paints and materials; and radon. 

To the "Knowledge of Seller" (or to the "Seller’s Knowledge") means that the Board President is 

without actual knowledge after reasonable inquiry and investigation that the applicable 

representation or warranty is untrue. 

"Law" means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, international, multinational or other 

constitution, law, ordinance, principle of common law, code, regulation, rule, order or statute as 

amended, modified, codified, replaced or reenacted, in whole or in part, and in effect from time to 

time, including rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

"Order" means any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, assessment or arbitration award 

of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator. 

"Ordinary Course of Business" means, with respect to any action of Seller, that such action is 

taken in the ordinary course of normal, day-to-day operations of Seller and is consistent with 

Seller’s past practices, and such term shall include any supply of water provided by County, or 

operation of or support for the System that may be provided by County prior to closing.    

"Party" or "Parties" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

"Permits" means all permits, licenses, consents, approvals, authorizations, certificates, 

registrations, variances and similar rights obtained, or required to be obtained, from Governmental 

Authorities. 

"Permitted Encumbrances" means as to the Real Property, Encumbrances of record (including 

Encumbrances securing any obligation for borrowed money or monies due). 

"Person" means a natural person, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business 

trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, Governmental 

Authority or other entity or organization. 

"Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(b)(i). 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 21 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

"Retained Accounts" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.8(f).   

"System Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(a). 

"Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8(a)(i).   

"Retained Liabilities" means all obligations and liabilities of Seller (other than the Assumed 

Liabilities), of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether fixed or contingent, whether known or 

unknown, including all obligations and liabilities of Seller arising from or relating to: 

(a) any breach or default of an Assumed Contract on or prior to the Closing Date and 

all agreements and contracts other than Assumed Contracts; 

(c) any claim by a third party made on or prior to the Closing Date;  

(d) all accounts payable relating to the System incurred on or prior to the Closing Date; 

and  

(e) any failure by Seller to comply with any Law or Order, including all penalties, fees, 

charges and other expenses payable before the Closing with respect thereto.  

"Schedules" means the Schedules attached to this Agreement.   

"Seller" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

"State" shall mean North Carolina. 

"System" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. 

"System Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(a). 

"Third Party Claim" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1(a)(i). 

 "Transaction Document" means this Agreement, the certificates, agreements, instruments and 

documents delivered by a Party pursuant to Section 4.4 and all other certificates, agreements, 

instruments and documents executed and delivered by a Party in accordance with this Agreement. 

[The remainder of this page is blank.  Signature page follows.] 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



  WORKING DRAFT  

Signature Page to the Asset Purchase Agreement 
 

ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective 

Date. 

 COUNTY: 

CAMDEN COUNTY 

 

By: _________________________________ 

Name:________________________________ 

Title:  

  

SELLER: 

SOUTH MILLS WATER ASSOCIATION, 

INCORPORATED 

 

By:  

Name: ________________ 

Title:   President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 2 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

 

 

 

Exhibits 

 

1. Exhibit A: Bill of Sale 

 

2. Exhibit B: Deeds 

 

3. Exhibit C:  Assumption Agreement 

 

4. Exhibit D:  Form of Assignment of Easements 

 

  

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

 

 3 
ND:4860-1097-2022, v. 3 

Schedules 

 

 

1. Schedule 1.1(a)(i): System Assets - water tanks and other pipes, drains, towers and lines 

 

2. Schedule 1.1(a)(ii): System Assets - equipment  

 

3. Schedule 1.1(a)(iii): System Assets - materials  

 

4. Schedule 1.1(a)(iv): Transferable Permits  

 

5. Schedule 1.1(a)(v): Assumed Contracts 

 

6. Schedule 2.4: Financial Statements  

 

7. Schedule 2.7(a): Maps 

 

8. Schedule 2.7(b): Customer Tap Fee List 

 

9. Schedule 2.8(a)(i): Real Property 

 

10. Schedule 2.8(b)(i): Easements & Rights of Way 

 

11. Schedule 2.9: Permits 

 

12. Schedule 2.10(a): Sufficiency of Assets 

 

13. Schedule 2.11(a): Environmental Permits 

 

14. Schedule 2.11(e)(i): Disposal of Hazardous Materials 

 

15. Schedule 2.11(e)(i)(ii): Transferred underground storage tanks 

 

16. Schedule 2.17: USDA Agreements 

 

17. Schedule 4.5: Pro-rated Charges 

 

 

 

7.E.a

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 -

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
- 

S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d

 P
u

rc
h

as
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

48
60

-1
09

7-
20

22
 v

.3
  (

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 S
M

W
A

 S
ys

te
m

 T
ra

n
sf

er
 a

n
d



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.F 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Erin Burke, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Williams Brothers Farms Proposed Lease 

 

Attachments: Ag Use Lease, 4888-9314-1906 (PDF) 

 
Summary: 

South Mills Water Association has for many years leased its vacant land to Williams Brothers 

Farms on a year-to-year basis.  The current term ends December 31, 2023.  The tenant has 

requested a renewal for 2024.  As the potential new owner of the property, the Board will 

consider the intent of the County to renew the lease for an additional year.  The current lease 

agreement between SMWA and Williams Brothers Farms is attached for reference.   

Recommendation: 

Authorize the County Manager, in consultation with the County Attorney, to enter into a one-

year lease with Williams Brothers Farms to match terms currently in place per the existing 

agreement.   

7.F

Packet Pg. 53



South Mills Water Association, Inc 

Agricultural Lease 

South Mills Water Assoc Inc, a non-profit corporation, authorized to do business in the State of 

North Carolina (“Lessor”), and Williams Brothers Farms, Inc., a North Carolina Corporate 

Farm, whose address is 225 Culpepper Road, South Mills, NC 27976 (“Lessee”) enter and 

execute this Agricultural Lease (this ‘Lease”) effective as of this 31‘ day of December 2022. 

WITNESSETH:   

Upon the terms and conditions and for the price and consideration hereinafter set forth, Lessor 
has leased and let unto Lessee, and by these presents does lease and let unto Lessee, for the 
purposed set forth herein, those certain lands located in the County of Camden, and State of North 
Carolina measuring approximately 29 acres, and being known as the “South Mills Wood Yard 
Fields”, which lands are more particularly shown on the plat attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and 

made a part hereof (the” Leased Land). 

The Leased Land is leased to Lessee by Lessor for the Sole purpose of cultivating, planting, 

caring and harvesting of agricultural products. Any other use of the Lease Land Shall require the 
prior written consent of Lessor, which may be withheld in Lessor’s sole discretion. 

This Lease is made upon and expressly subject to the following terms and conditions:.: 

1. Term. Unless sooner terminated as hereinafter provided, the term of this Lease 
shall extend from December 31,2022 to December 31,2023. Lessee agrees to quilt 
and surrender peaceable possession of the Leased Land in as good a state and 
condition as reasonable use and wear thereof will permit. 

2. Rent. The rent to be paid for this Lease shall be the sum of $2,320.00 (29 acres@ 
$80.00 per acre). Payment shall be made by Lessor upon execution of this Lease by 
Lessee. 

3. Maintenance. The Lessee must keep the ditch banks cut and grade the road twice a 

year. 

4. Surface Only; No Warranty or Representations. It is understood and agreed that 

this Lease is made only of the surface of the land shown on Exhibit A attached hereto 

and solely for the specific purposes herein before stated. It is expressly understood 

that Lessor makes no warranty or representations of any kind or nature whatsoever as 
to its title of the Leased Land or as to the adequacy or suitability of the Leased Land 
for the purpose for which the same is leased. Lessee has inspected the Leased Land 
and takes and accepts it “AS IS” “WHERE JS” in its present condition without

7.F.a

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
 U

se
 L

ea
se

, 4
88

8-
93

14
-1

90
6 

 (
W

ill
ia

m
s 

B
ro

th
er

s 
F

ar
m

s 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 L

ea
se

)



10. 

reservation of limitation. Lessee shall have no water, oil, gas, or mineral rights in the 

Leased Land. 

No Improvements. As part of the consideration, and as a condition of this Lease, 

Lessee covenants and agrees to use and care for the Leased Land in a careful, prudent 

and husband-like manner. Lessee shall not erect or place any structures or other 
improvements upon the leased Land, nor shall Lessee create or make any wells, canal, 

ditches or other excavations thereon without the prior written permission of Lessor. 
Lessee shall not affix, erect or place any sign, advertisement, notice, or other thing to 
any part of the Leased Land without Lessor’s prior written consent. If, with Lessor’s 
permission as aforesaid, Lessee shall erect improvements which can be removed 
without damage to the Leases Land, Lessee shall have the right to remove the same 

within thirty (30) days next following the termination of this Lease, but if Lessee shall 

fail or refuse to effect such removal within that time, such improvements shall ipso 
facto became the sole property of Lessor without any obligation on Lessor’s part to 

pay for the same. 
  

No Timber. Lessee shall not cut or remove any timber, or permit any timber to 
be cut or removed, from any of the Leased Land. Lessee agrees to conduct all its 

operations on the Leased Land to prevent damage, whether by fire or otherwise, to 
timber growing on the Leased Land or any adjacent lands belonging to Lessor and 

further agrees to assist in the suppression and prevention of fires on the lands of Lessor 

in the vicinity. 

Lessor’s Right to Enter. Lessor expressly reserves the rights on behalf of itself, its 

agents, employees, contractors and licensees to enter upon the Leased Land for the 
purpose of ingress and egress to and from, and removing timber, wood, or forest 
products from the Leased Land and any others lands of Lessor in the vicinity of the 
Leased Land and for the purpose of inspection of the Leased Land. 

Lessor’ Remedies. If Lessee, its employees, agents , or contractors shall neglect or 

fail to faithfully perform or observe any of the covenants or conditions set forth in this 

Lease on its or their part to be performed or observed, or shall fail to pay rent when it 

is due ,Lessor may immediately, or at any time thereafter, terminate this Lease upon 

notice to Lessee and may, without demand or notice , enter upon the Leased Land and 

repossess the same without liability of any kind to Lessee and without prejudice to any 

remedies which Lessor might otherwise have. 

Assignment; Sublet and Sale of Leased Land. This Lease may not be assigned or 
otherwise transferred by Lessee, nor may the Leased Land be subleased by Lessee in 
whole or in part without the prior written consent of Lessor, which consent may be 
held in Lessor’s sole discretion. Nothing herein shall preclude Lessor from selling, 
conveying, or otherwise transferring the Leased Land to a third party nor shall Lessor 

be precluded from assigning the Lease, in whole or in part, to a third party; all or any 

of the foregoing may be done by Lessor without Lessee’s consent or approval. 

Hunting, Fishing and Recreational Rights. It is understood and agreed that hunting, 
fishing and other recreational rights about the Leased Land are reserved to Lessor and 

that Lessee has no right to and shall not hunt, fish or otherwise engage or permit others 

to engage in recreational activities on the Leased Land.

7.F.a

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
 U

se
 L

ea
se

, 4
88

8-
93

14
-1

90
6 

 (
W

ill
ia

m
s 

B
ro

th
er

s 
F

ar
m

s 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 L

ea
se

)



11. Compliance with Laws. Lessee is solely responsible for obtaining any and all 

required licenses and permits required by federal ,state, and local laws and regulations 

pertaining to the operations conducted under the terms of this Lease and further 

assumes any and all liability for Lessee’s violations or claimed violations of such rules 
and regulations and covenants and agrees to hold Lessor harmless for any and all fines, 

penalties, claims, or actions resulting from such violations or claimed violations. 

Lessee expressly agrees to, and by these presents does, indemnify and hold Lessor 
harmless from and against any and all claims, debts, demands or actions arising out of, 

or attributable to the use operations and management of the Leased Land by Lessee or 
its agents, employees, contractors or licensees. 

12. Insurance. Lessee must always during the term hereof maintain the following types 

and amounts of insurance coverage on policies issued on an “occurrence” basic by 
insurance companies with at least an AMBest rating A-, VII or equivalent: 

(a) Workers’ Compensation Insurance (or qualification as a self-insurer) 
sufficient, to satisfy the laws of the state(s) in which Lessee’s operations are 

being performed. Lessee’s Workers Compensation insurer (or Lessee, if self- 
insured) agrees to waive rights of subrogation against Lessor except for 

claims caused by Lessor’s sole negligence and shall also provide for an 

assignment of statutory lien, if applicable; 

(b) Employer’s Liability Insurance that covers both ‘bodily injury by 

accident” and bodily injury by disease’ with limits of not less than $500,000; 

(c) Commercial General Liability Insurance that covers bodily injury, 
personal injury, and property damage, and contractual liability coverage with 

per occurrence limits of not less than $1,000,000 and an aggregate limit of 
not less than $1,000,000. 

With respect to the insurance provided by Lessee under this subsections (a) through (c) above. 

Lessee shall procure from each insurer a waiver of subrogation in Lessor’s favor. 

Attorneys’ fees and court costs shall be in addition to the policy limits set forth above. 

Lessee is responsible for payment of all deductibles, self-insured retentions and/or similar changes 

for the coverage required under this Section11. 

Lessee agrees to make Lessor an additional insured on Lessee’s Commercial General Liability 
policy and will provided Lessor with copies of policy endorsements reflecting Lessor’s status as an 

additional insured thereunder. It is hereby agreed that all insurance coverage available to Lessor 

under Lessee’s policies will be primary without right of contribution from any others insurance 
carried by or on behalf of Lessor, and that all of Lessee’s insurance policies identified above will 

so indicate. All insurance coverage required under this Section 11 must provide that such policies 
cannot be canceled for any reason other than non-payment unless Lessor is given at least thirty days 

advance written notice of cancellation (ten days for non-payment).

7.F.a

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
 U

se
 L

ea
se

, 4
88

8-
93

14
-1

90
6 

 (
W

ill
ia

m
s 

B
ro

th
er

s 
F

ar
m

s 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 L

ea
se

)



In addition to the policy endorsements evidencing required waivers of subrogation as 
well as Lessor as an additional insured under Lessee’s Commercial General Liability 

policy, Lessee will also provide Lessor with written certificates of insurance evidencing 
Lessee’s compliance with the requirements of this Section 11. Lessee hereby agrees that 
if it fails to furnish the policy endorsement and/or the certificates of insurance required 
hereunder, or if Lessor receives notice that any policy of insurance issued to Lessee has 

been canceled or no longer meets the requirements of this Section 11, then Lessor may 1) 
suspend this Lessee until insurance is obtained; 2) terminate this Lease immediately for 
cause ; or 3) obtained forced placement insurance that meets the requirements of this 

Section 11 at Lessee’s sole cost from any broker or insurer satisfactory to Lessor. 

13. Defense and Indemnification. Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify ,and hold Lessor 
harmless from and against any and all claims, losses, demands, liens, cause of action 

or suits, judgments, fines, assessments, liabilities, damage and injuries (including 

death) of whatever kind or nature , including to all persons or property, arising out of 
on account of, or as a result of, directly or indirectly, Lessee’s performance or 

nonperformance under this Lease, whether or not caused or alleged to have been 
caused, in whole or in part , by the negligence of Lessor. Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing Lessee specifically agrees to defend Lessor in any suit 
against Lessor (regardless of whether Lessee is also a party to the suit) arising out of, 
on account of or resulting directly or indirectly from Lessee’s operations, 

performance or nonperformance under this Lease. Lessee hereby waives, as against 
Lessor, any immunity from suit afforded by applicable workers compensation laws. 

At Lessor’s request, Lessee shall provide to Lessor at Lessee’s expense, a complete 

defense of any such claim demand, cause of action or suit, and Lessee shall bear all 
attorneys’ fees; costs of defense; court costs; expert, discovery and investigative fees; 

and costs of appeal, all to end that Lessor shall incur no cost or expense of any kind 
associated with full and complete defense of any such claim demand, cause of action 

or suit, or of enforcing Lessee’s compliance with this Section 12 Lessee agrees that 
Lessor has the right to be represented by separate counsel of its own selection ,at 
Lessee’s sole expense. Lessor’s exercise of its right to select its own separate counsel 
will in no way diminish or release Lessee’s obligation to indemnify and hold Lessor 

harmless. 

Expect in jurisdictions where prohibited by law. Lessee agrees that its duty to defend, 

indemnity and hold Lessor harmless is not dependent upon Lessee’s fault or 

negligence. Lessee’s duty to defend, indemnify and hold Lessor harmless exists for 

each and every claim or suit that arises out of or in any way relates to, Lessee’s 

operations or its performance under this Lease, Similarly except in jurisdictions 

where prohibited by law, Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Lessor 

harmless from and against any claim of liability to Lessee’s employees, and Lessee

7.F.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
 U

se
 L

ea
se

, 4
88

8-
93

14
-1

90
6 

 (
W

ill
ia

m
s 

B
ro

th
er

s 
F

ar
m

s 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 L

ea
se

)



hereby waives any immunity under workers compensation laws to the extent 

necessary to give effect to this provision. 

Lessee agrees that its duties and obligations under this Section 12 are distinct from are 
independent of and are not intended to be coextensive with, its duty to procure the 
insurance coverage require by the terms of this Lease. 

14. Governing Law. This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of North Carolina. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee have executed this instrument, in duplicate, 

Effective as of the date first written above. 

WITNESS: 

LESSOR: 

South Mills Water Association Inc 

J ff C Di | 

Kee Lf By: [ lil, A LLL ‘had 

! 2/ 4/72 Name/Title Vice tis ( dof 

  

    

    

WITNESS: 

LESSEE: 

Williams Brothers Farms, Inc 

=< Leroy {f /2N4/72 by: ss 

Namertitle: [CC Jeeh t- 

    

   

7.F.a

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
 U

se
 L

ea
se

, 4
88

8-
93

14
-1

90
6 

 (
W

ill
ia

m
s 

B
ro

th
er

s 
F

ar
m

s 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 L

ea
se

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.G 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Erin Burke, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Lease Renewal of County Property - 390 US 158 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

The Board will consider a lease renewal of county-owned property located at 390 US 158 to 

Pasquotank River Yacht Club, Inc. for a term of five years.  In consideration of the lease, 

Pasquotank River Yacht Club, Inc. will pay the county an annual rent of $3,600.00.   

Recommendation: 

Authorize the County Manager, in consultation with the County Attorney, to enter into the 

proposed lease renewal with Pasquotank River Yacht Club, Inc. effective January 1, 2024.   

7.G

Packet Pg. 59



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.H 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Erin Burke, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Lease of County Property - 151 Gumberry Road 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

The Board will consider a lease renewal of the county-owned property located at 151 Gumberry 

Road to Success Academy for 3's and 4's for a term of five years.  In consideration of the lease, 

Success Academy for 3's and 4's will pay the county a monthly rent of $1,980.00. 

Recommendation: 

Authorize the County Manager, in consultation with the County Attorney, to enter into the 

proposed lease renewal with Success Academy for 3's and 4's effective January 1, 2024. 

7.H

Packet Pg. 60



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 8.A 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Tim White, Parks & Recreation Director 

 Parks & Recreation 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Parks & Recreation 

 

Attachments: Jill Inscore_Parks and Recreation Application (JPG) 

 
Summary: 

It is the request of Parks & Recreation Director Tim White that Jill Inscore be appointed to the 

Parks & Recreation Advisory Board. 

Recommendation: 

Approval.  

8.A

Packet Pg. 61



8.A.a

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

ill
 In

sc
o

re
_P

ar
ks

 a
n

d
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
P

ar
ks

 &
 R

ec
re

at
io

n
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.A 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   BOC Meeting Minutes 

 

Attachments: bocminutes_110623 (DOCX) 

 

9.A

Packet Pg. 63



1 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

6:00 PM – Closed Session 

7:00 PM – Regular Meeting 

Camden Public Library Boardroom 

118 Hwy 343 North 

 

Minutes 

A Regular Meeting of the Camden County Board of Commissioners was held at 7:00 PM on November 6, 2023 in 

the boardroom of the Camden Public Library in Camden, North Carolina.  A Closed Session was held at 6:00 PM to 

discuss personnel and consult with the County Attorney.   

 

CALL TO ORDER  

The meeting was called to order by Chair Tiffney White at 6:00 PM.  Also Present: Commissioners Randy Krainiak, 

Sissy Aydlett and Troy Leary.  Absent for Closed Session: Vice Chair Ross Munro.   

 

Vice Chair Munro joined the meeting via conference call for the open session at 7:00 PM in accordance with the 

Board’s Remote Participation Policy.  

 

Administration Staff Present: County Attorney John Morrison (Closed Session only), County Manager Erin Burke 

and Clerk to the Board Karen Davis.   

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

Motion to go into Closed Session to discuss personnel and consult with the County Attorney. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

ABSENT: Ross Munro 

 

Motion to come out of Closed Session. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

ABSENT: Ross Munro 

 

Chair White reconvened the Board of Commissioners at 7:00 PM for open session. 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Pastor Tommy Berry gave the invocation and the Board led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

ITEM 1. CONSIDERATION OF AGENDA        

 

Commissioner Aydlett requested that the agenda be amended to add the following as New Business Item 6.E: 

Discussion of an amendment to the UDO and a Board policy regarding rezonings.   

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Sissy Aydlett 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

ITEM 2. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT     

 

Clerk to the Board Karen Davis read the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement. 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



2 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

ITEM 3. PRESENTATIONS          

 

A. Camden Tourism Development Authority Photo Contest – Sarah Hill 

 

Tourism Development Authority Chair Sarah Hill recognized the winners of the 2023 Capture Camden Photo 

Contest.   

 

ITEM 4. PUBLIC COMMENTS          

 

Britton Overton spoke in regard to the demolition order on 1330 NC Highway 343 South in Shiloh and contract 

award.  Mr. Overton stated that of the multiple property owners, Geraldine Overton is the only one who received 

notice of the proceedings in regard to the property.  He requested that the Board table the contract award for the 

aforementioned property until all the property owners are notified and given the proper time to make changes and 

improve the sites to the County’s standard due to the financial burden this will place on the property owners.   

 

ITEM 5. OLD BUSINESS          

 

A. Award of Demolition Contract – Erin Burke 

 

In April of 2020 a notice of violation was issued for 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road and 1275 & 1330 NC HWY 343 

South. Subsequent notices and hearings led to a decision by the Board of Commissioners to affirm the Code 

Enforcement Officer’s decision to have the properties demolished.  

 

Staff drafted and published an RFP for demolition of the above-referenced properties. The RFP was published for 

one month. The RFP requested proposals in three separate projects based on the location of structures. There was 

only one (1) proposal received from CCP Contractors. The total cost for all projects is $24,520.00. There is currently 

$50,000.00 in the budget for demolition in the Code Enforcement Department. The cost of the demolition will be 

assessed to the properties as noted on the contract. 

 

The Board was presented this item for consideration at the September 5, 2023 meeting and voted to table a decision 

until the November 6, 2023 meeting.  

 

As of the day of the meeting, staff reported that the following had occurred on the properties: 

• In the past 48 hours at least two structures had been moved from 1330 Highway 343 South without proper 

permits authorized by the County or State, which are required to travel on the highway.  

• The structures located on 165 Alder Branch are still present and unaltered. 

• The structure on 167 Alder Branch had been demolished on site and a large pile of debris remains at that 

location.   

• The structure on 1275 High 343 South is still standing as of 12:30 PM.   

 

Manager Burke added that the Board had been in conversation in regard to this matter as far back as 1994.  It was 

her recommendation that the Board move forward in awarding the demolition contract.  In response to Mr. 

Overton’s concerns during Public Comment, she stated that per the notification process, owners are contacted whose 

addresses are on file at the time the items are authorized via Resolutions adopted by the Board. In this case, those 

Resolutions were adopted in August 2021.   

 

Manager Burke noted that due to the alterations to 1330 Highway 343 South and because the structures had been 

moved without the proper permits, the County will have to begin the process of issuing notices of violation in 

accordance with the Unified Development Ordinance.   

 

In regard to the question raised in a previous meeting of the contractor’s ability to be awarded the contract because 

of the bidder’s relationship to the Clerk of Superior Court, the County Attorney and a representative from the State 

Attorney’s Office have deemed that there is no conflict of interest present.  This process is not handled through the 

Clerk of Court’s office.  The RFP’s are presented to the County Manager’s office and are reviewed by the County 

Manager and Finance Officer.  In addition, as this is a construction service, the County is not required to seek out 

formal bids but did so as it was deemed the best process for this situation.  Therefore, staff does not deem it 

necessary to re-advertise.  Staff will work with the contractor that has presented a proposal to fine-tune the costs to 

reflect the current conditions of the properties.   

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



3 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

  
 

  
 

Motion to award the demolition contract to CCP Contractors for Projects One, Two and Three totaling 

$24,520 but authorizing the County Manager to negotiate the cost reflecting the changes that have occurred 

on the property since the initial bid.   

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-1] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

NOES: Randy Krainiak 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



4 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

B. North River Crossing Phase 3 Subdivision – Amber Curling 

 

Seaboard Development Alliance LLC is requesting Preliminary Plan review for North River Crossing Phase 3 Major 

Subdivision.  The proposed subdivision consists of 15 detached single family lots located on the south side of Ditch 

Bank Rd and across Ditch Bank Rd from the existing subdivision North River Crossing Phases 1 and 2.  The two 

parcels consisting of 20.15-acres are located in the Shiloh township.  

 

On August 16, 2023 the Planning Board recommended approval of North River Crossing Phase 3 Major Subdivision 

with a 4 to 1 vote. 

 

At the October 2, 2023 Public Hearing the Board of Commissioners tabled the Preliminary Plan Application of 

North River Crossing Phase 3 Major Subdivision in order to give adequate time for staff, school and fire personnel 

to review the turnarounds. 

 

Manager Burke added that at this time the applicant is not seeking water for fire suppression; only water to feed the 

homes, not unlike any other water service in that area of the county.  The water at this time is not a staff concern. 

 

The application in its entirety is on file for public review in the Planning Department and is herein incorporated by 

reference.   

 

  
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



5 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

   
 

   
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



6 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

   
 

 
 

Response from Chief Kirk Jennings with the South Camden Fire Department in regard to the emergency turnaround: 

 

We were able to take our largest truck down to Cape Fear Drive over the weekend.  That type of turnaround will 

work on Yadkin Drive Phase 3.  However, it needs to sit back about 20’ farther away from the end of the road.  The 

turnaround on Cape Fear Drive is kind of tight to make the turn staying on the pavement.  We had to pull the truck 

right up to the edge of the concrete driveway to the house at the end of Cape Fear Drive just to get turned around 

and we definitely do not want to have to drive those trucks on the concrete driveway and take a risk of busting 

someone’s driveway.   

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



7 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

Another option that would work if there isn’t enough room to move it back, would be to make it like a “T” so that 

we could turn in one side and then back across the end of Yadkin Drive into the other side to get turned around.   

 

Response from Transportation Director Britton Overton with Camden County Schools in regard to the proposed bus 

shelter, cul-de-sac, and emergency turnaround: 

 

I do not see an issue with any of the dimensions attached with the drawings provided.   

 

Motion to approve North River Crossing Major Subdivision Preliminary Plat Ordinance 2023-10-01 and 

UDO 2023-03-030 with the preferred emergency turnaround space as requested by the South Camden Fire 

Department Chief. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

John Linton with Seaboard Development Alliance requested clarification in regard to the emergency access that was 

being approved by the Board.   

 

Chair White confirmed that the emergency turnaround space being approved is the hammerhead turnaround as 

requested by the South Camden Fire Department.   

 

Commissioner Krainiak asked School Transportation Director Britton Overton is that particular turnaround is 

agreeable to him in regard to school bus access.  Mr. Overton confirmed that the proposed turnaround is agreeable.   

 

ITEM 6. NEW BUSINESS          

 

A. Tax Report – Lisa Anderson 

 

 
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



8 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

 
 

 
 

 

30 Largest Unpaid - Real 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



9 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

30 Oldest Unpaid - Real 

 

 
 

30 Largest Unpaid – Personal 

 

 
  

30 Oldest Unpaid - Personal 

 

 
 

Motion to approve the tax report as presented. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



10 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

B. Youth Football Proposal – Parks & Recreation Director Tim White presented the following proposal:  

 

 
 

Mr. White added that the current President of the Youth Football League has decided to step down and at this point 

there is no one to assume this responsibility.   

 

Upon a question by Commissioner Krainiak, it was noted that the Memorandum of Understanding should be 

updated to reflect this change. 

 

Motion to approve the request of Parks & Recreation to implement a Camden County Youth Football 

Program as presented by the Director. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Troy Leary  

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

C. Cooperative Extension Memorandum of Agreement – Erin Burke 

 

NC State University is updating the Memorandum of Agreement with all counties for Cooperative Extension.  The 

Board will consider the proposed updated MOA for Camden County.  The last update was completed in 2006.  The 

document has been reviewed by the County Attorney.   

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



11 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

   
 

   
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

   
 

   
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



13 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

 
 

Motion to approve the Cooperative Extension Memorandum of Agreement as presented. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

D. Camden High School Traffic Impact Analysis – Erin Burke 

 

The High School Steering Committee is recommending a Traffic Impact Analysis from the proposed High School 

Site to Sawyer’s Creek Road as indicated in the following Timmons Group proposal.  The analysis will provide 

scientific data that will aid in recommendations to NCDOT surrounding improvements that will need to be made.  

The cost of the analysis will be $15,500.   

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



14 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

   
 

   

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



15 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

 
 

Motion to approve the Camden High School Traffic Impact Analysis as presented. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

E. Discussion of UDO Amendment and Policy on Rezonings – Commissioner Aydlett stated that, in addition 

to working on a Strategic Plan, it is necessary that the Board take action to help slow growth in the County 

and requested that staff review and draft an amendment to the UDO to lower density for single-family 

detached dwellings to nothing less than one acre.   

 

County Manager stated it will take a few months to work through the process of drafting and reviewing 

amendments, as well as holding the necessary public hearings.   

 

Motion to ask staff to review and draft an amendment to the UDO to lower density for single-family detached 

dwellings to nothing less than one acre.   

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-1] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

NOES: Randy Krainiak 

 

Rezoning Requests Discussion 

 

Commissioner Aydlett, for the same reasons, requested to “discuss creating a Board policy to not entertain any 

rezoning requests at this time.  This is a temporary fix until we can establish our Strategic Plan and until we can get 

a little bit of a firmer handle on things.”   

 

RESULT: PASSED [3-2] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

NOES: Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak 

 

   

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



16 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

ITEM 7. BOARD APPOINTMENTS         

 

A. Jury Commission – Reappointment of Gale Perry 

 

B. Planning Board - It is necessary to update the following appointment terms to be in compliance with the 

Camden County Unified Development Ordinance Article 11.5.2, which states that terms shall run July 1 - 

June 30: 

 

  Name     Term Expiration 

  Nathan Lilley    June 30, 2025 

  Ray Albertson    June 30, 2025 

  George Tom White, Jr.   June 30, 2025 

  David Bundy    June 30, 2026 

  Steven Bradshaw   June 30, 2026 

  Wayne Roger Lambertson  June 30, 2026 

  Marshall Lee Powell   June 30, 2026 

 

Motion to approve the Board Appointments as presented. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Sissy Aydlett 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors       

 

Chair White recessed the Board of Commissioners and called to order the South Camden Water & Sewer District 

Board of Directors Meeting.   

 

Public Comments – None 

 

Consideration of the Agenda  

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Troy Leary 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

New Business 

 

A. Monthly Report – Erin Burke  

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



17 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

 
 

 
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



18 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

 
 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



19 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

Motion to approve the monthly report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

Motion to adjourn South Camden Water & Sewer Board of Directors. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

Chair White adjourned the South Camden Water & Sewer Board of Directors and reconvened the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

ITEM 8. CONSENT AGENDA          

 

A. BOC Meeting Minutes – October 10, 2023 Meeting Minutes on file in the Clerk to the Board’s office and 

the County website; incorporated herein by reference.   

 

B. Budget Amendments 

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



20 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

C. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

 
 

 

D. Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



21 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

E. Tax Collection Report 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



22 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

F. Vehicle Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

 

G. JCPC Contractor Agreement 

 

   

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



23 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

   
 

H. Records Retention: Program Records Schedule 

 

  

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



24 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

  
 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Troy Leary 

AYES: Tiffney White, Ross Munro, Randy Krainiak, Troy Leary, Sissy Aydlett 

 

ITEM 9. COUNTY MANAGER’S REPORT        

 

County Manager Erin Burke included the following in her report: 

• Attended the following meetings: 

▪ Minister’s Advisory Council 

▪ Tourism Development Authority 

▪ High School Steering Committee  

▪ EMS Board  

▪ Jail Board 

▪ Public Safety 

▪ JCPC Board 

• EMS Leadership & Technical Interviews 

• Broadband webinar and meeting with DIT Representative Jeff Brooks to discuss upcoming broadband 

grant opportunities. 

• 343 South Widening Project Leadership Meeting 

• Currituck Chamber of Commerce Economic Summit Meeting 

• Strategic Planning Initiative 

• Dismal Day 

• Treasure Point PARTF Inspection Meeting 

• North Carolina City & County Managers Fall Meeting – ECU 

• ARHS State of Health Summit 

• Tax & Water Departments Relocation 

• Administration & Planning Renovation 

• Halloween Trick-or-Treat Event 

• Strategic Plan Initiative  

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



25 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

ITEM 10. COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS         

 

Commissioner Aydlett  

• EMS Director Interviews 

• Elected to NCACC Board of Directors 

• ARHS Health Summit 

• Halloween Event – Appreciation to staff 

 

Chair White 

• ARHS Health Summit 

• Albemarle Regional Health Event 

 

Manager Burke noted that the Tax & Water Departments have moved to their new location in the Camden Medical 

Park.  A night deposit box is available for after-hours payments.   

 

ITEM 11. INFORMATION, REPORTS & MINUTES FROM OTHER AGENCIES    

 

A. Register of Deeds Report 

 

 
 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



26 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

B. Library Report 

 

 
 

 

C. New High School Project Status Report 

 

   
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



27 

 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

November 6, 2023 

 
 

ITEM 12. OTHER MATTERS          

None. 

 

ITEM 13. ADJOURN           

 

There being no further matters for discussion Chair White adjourned the meeting at 8:01 PM.  

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

11
06

23
  (

B
O

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.B 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Stephanie Jackson, 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Stephanie Jackson 

 
Item Title   Budget Amendments 

 

Attachments: 23-24 BA 018 Increase to Library Salaries for Rachel 

Bryant (DOC) 

23-24 BA 019 Increase to Professional Services for 

Well & Wastewater Lines

 (DOC) 

23-24 BA 020 Stormwater Escrow (DOC) 

 

9.B

Packet Pg. 91



                                                       2023-24-BA018 

 

CAMDEN COUNTY BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Board of the County of Camden, North Carolina 

that the following amendment be made to the annual budget ordinance for the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2024. 

 

Section 1.  To amend the General Fund as follows: 

 

                 AMOUNT   

ACCT NUMBER           DESCRIPTION OF ACCT            INCREASE     DECREASE 

     

Revenues  

10399400-439900 Fund Balance Appropriated                    $3139 

   

Expenses  

106110-502000         Salaries        2500 

106110-505000         FICA          191 

106110-507000         Retirement         323 

106110-507100         401(k) Retirement        125 

 

 

 

 

This Budget Amendment is made to appropriate funds from Fund Balance Appropriated 

to increase the Salaries and benefits expense line 

 

This will result in no change to the Contingency of the General Fund. 

 

Balance in Contingency  $40,000.00 

 

 

Section 2.  Copies of this budget amendment shall be furnished to the Clerk to the  

Governing Board and to the Budget Officer and the Finance Officer for their direction.  

Adopted this 4th day of December, 2023. 

 

       

______________________________ _________________________________  

  

Clerk to Board of Commissioners    Chair, Board of Commissioners 

 

9.B.a

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3-
24

 B
A

 0
18

 In
cr

ea
se

 t
o

 L
ib

ra
ry

 S
al

ar
ie

s 
fo

r 
R

ac
h

el
 B

ry
an

t 
 (

B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



                                                       2023-24-BA019 

 

CAMDEN COUNTY BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Board of the County of Camden, North Carolina 

that the following amendment be made to the annual budget ordinance for the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2024. 

 

Section 1.  To amend the General Fund as follows: 

 

                 AMOUNT   

ACCT NUMBER           DESCRIPTION OF ACCT            INCREASE     DECREASE 

     

Revenues  

10399400-439900 Fund Balance Appropriated                    $2,140,474 

   

Expenses  

105450-504004        Professional Services      2,140,474 

 

 

 

 

This Budget Amendment is made to appropriate funds from Fund Balance Appropriated 

to increase the Professional Services expense line for the well and wastewater lines. 

 

This will result in no change to the Contingency of the General Fund. 

 

Balance in Contingency  $40,000.00 

 

 

Section 2.  Copies of this budget amendment shall be furnished to the Clerk to the  

Governing Board and to the Budget Officer and the Finance Officer for their direction.  

Adopted this 4th day of December, 2023. 

 

       

______________________________ _________________________________  

  

Clerk to Board of Commissioners    Chair, Board of Commissioners 

 

9.B.b

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3-
24

 B
A

 0
19

 In
cr

ea
se

 t
o

 P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

W
el

l &
 W

as
te

w
at

er
 L

in
es

  (
B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



                                                       2023-24-BA020 

 

CAMDEN COUNTY BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Board of the County of Camden, North Carolina 

that the following amendment be made to the annual budget ordinance for the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2024. 

 

Section 1.  To amend the General Fund as follows: 

 

                 AMOUNT   

ACCT NUMBER           DESCRIPTION OF ACCT            INCREASE     DECREASE 

     

Revenues  

10340490-435001 Stormwater Fees                                      $28,418.25 

   

Expenses  

104900-503200        Stormwater Escrow      28,418.25 

 

 

 

 

This Budget Amendment is made to appropriate funds from Stormwater Revenues to the 

Miscellaneous expense line. 

 

This will result in no change to the Contingency of the General Fund. 

 

Balance in Contingency  $40,000.00 

 

 

Section 2.  Copies of this budget amendment shall be furnished to the Clerk to the  

Governing Board and to the Budget Officer and the Finance Officer for their direction.  

Adopted this 4th day of December, 2023. 

 

       

______________________________ _________________________________  

  

Clerk to Board of Commissioners    Chair, Board of Commissioners 

 

9.B.c

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3-
24

 B
A

 0
20

 S
to

rm
w

at
er

 E
sc

ro
w

  (
B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.C 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

Attachments: Pickups, Releases & Refunds (PDF) 

 

9.C

Packet Pg. 95



9.C.a

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ic
ku

p
s,

 R
el

ea
se

s 
&

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

 (
P

ic
ku

p
s,

 R
el

ea
se

s 
&

 R
ef

u
n

d
s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.D 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: Refunds Over $100 (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Refunds Over $100.00 November, 2023  

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

9.D

Packet Pg. 97



9.D.a

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

  (
R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0)



9.D.a

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

  (
R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.E 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Tax Collection Report 

 

Attachments: Tax Collection Report (PDF) 

 

9.E

Packet Pg. 100



9.E.a

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

T
ax

 C
o

lle
ct

io
n

 R
ep

o
rt

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.F 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: REFUNDS OVER $100.00 OCTOBER, 23 (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 October, 2023 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

9.F

Packet Pg. 102



9.F
.a

P
acket P

g
. 103

Attachment: REFUNDS OVER $100.00 OCTOBER, 23  (Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.G 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Stephanie Jackson, 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   2024-2025 Annual Budget & CIP Calendar 

 

Attachments: Approved Calendar FY24-25 (DOCX) 

 

9.G

Packet Pg. 104



CAMDEN COUNTY FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 
ANNUAL BUDGET & CIP CALENDAR 

 

 - 1 - 

   

DATE                                                       PROCEDURE                                         ACTION BY 

 
January 19 Budget Officer & Finance Officer meet at 9 am  County Manager 
                                       to discuss this year’s priorities                                       Finance Officer 
  
February 16 Board of Commissioner’s Retreat to    Budget & Finance Officer 
                                       discuss this year’s priorities                                       Bd. Of Commissioners 
 
Week of Feb 19 Budget Workbooks Available for Department       County Manager 
 Heads and County Agencies to pick up    Finance Officer  
  
March 8 All 2024-2028 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP)   Department Heads 
 requests are due to County Manager’s Office   Bd. Of Education 
 
March 22 Deadline to submit New Position Requests   Department Heads 
 and Other Position Changes for FY24-25  
 to Personnel & Finance Office  
 
March 22 All Final Budget Requests from County    Department Heads,  
 Departments, Fire Districts and Non-County      Fire Districts & Non- 
 Organizations due in Manager’s office by       County Organizations 
 5:00 P.M. (G.S. 159-10) 
 
April 3-5 County Manager & Finance Officer to meet     County Manager 
 with Department Heads if needed   Department Heads 
 
April 4 Estimated Tax Valuation Due   Tax Administrator  
 
April 10 Budget, Finance & CIP Work Session, 1 pm    County Manager  
 (Library)   Bd of Commissioners 
    Tax Administrator 
  
April 10 Revenue Estimates Due   Finance Officer  
 
April 19 Camden County Board of Education’s Final             School Board  
 Proposed Budget due to County Manager 

 
April 19 Compile Budget Requests & deliver to    Finance Officer 
 County Manager 
 
April 22-23 Review and Analyze Budget Requests   County Manager 
 
 
April 24 Budget Meeting, 9 am     County Manager 
          Finance Officer 
 
 

9.G.a

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

ro
ve

d
 C

al
en

d
ar

 F
Y

24
-2

5 
 (

20
24

-2
02

5 
A

n
n

u
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 &

 C
IP

 C
al

en
d

ar
)



CAMDEN COUNTY FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 
ANNUAL BUDGET & CIP CALENDAR 

 

 - 2 - 

   

DATE                                                       PROCEDURE                                            ACTION BY 

 
April 25 - May 3 Compile Budget Document & Budget Message  County Manager 
 for presentation to Commissioners    Finance Officer 
 
May 6  Set Public Hearing on Budget (G. S. 159-12(A))       Clerk to Board  
 & Public Hearing on CIP (Not statutorily required) 
 
May 7 Budget Work Session (Library, 1 pm)           Board of County 
            Commissioners 
 
May 8 Review Budget Requests with Department     County Manager  
 Heads as requested by Budget Officer          Finance Officer 
 
May 17 Budget & CIP Available to BOC/Public    County Manager 
 Advertise Budget & CIP available to Public   Clerk to Board 
 (Publication date: May 17) 
 
June 3                            Public hearing(s) on FY 24-25 Budget (& CIP)        Board of County 
 (7pm)        Commissioners 
 
June 3 Consideration of Budget Ordinance   Board of County 
 (G.S. 159-13:A) & Consideration of CIP    Commissioners 
 (7pm)   
  
June 10 Adoption of Budget Ordinance &   Board of County 
 Adoption of CIP if not approved June 3   Commissioners 
 (7pm)   
 
June 17 Special Meeting to adopt budget if needed                 Board of County 
    Commissioners      
 
June 24 File Copies of Adopted Budget with County          Budget Officer 
 Finance Officer and Clerk (G.S. 159-13(d)) 

9.G.a

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

ro
ve

d
 C

al
en

d
ar

 F
Y

24
-2

5 
 (

20
24

-2
02

5 
A

n
n

u
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 &

 C
IP

 C
al

en
d

ar
)



Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

Information, Reports & Minutes from Other Agencies 

Item Number: 
Meeting Date:  

Submitted By: 

Item Title   

Attachments: 

12.A

December 04, 2023

Rodney Wooten, 

Library 

 

Library Report 11/2023 

23-11 (DOCX) 

12.A

Packet Pg. 107



Camden County Public Library 

November 2023 Statistics Report 
 

Visitor Count 1,675 

Materials Check Outs & Renewals 4,174 

Cloud Library Check Out (eBooks & audiobooks) 119 (small increase from 10/22) 

Computer/ Wireless Use 268/290 

Questions Answered 133 

Children’s Programs/Attendance 12/250 

Teen Program/Attendance 2/10 

Adult Programs/Attendance 2/23 

Outreach Programs/Attendance 2/50 

Study Room Usage/Attendance 43/60 

Meeting Room Usage/Attendance 1/12 

Days/Hours Open 21/186 

# Items in Collection 21,723 

Library Card Holders 2,755 

 
Comparison by Year 

2021-2023 

  
           

 

 

819

1543
1,611

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2021 Nov 2022 Nov 2023 Nov

Attendance

2,772

3,268

5,389

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

2021 Sep 2022 Sep 2023 Sep

Circulation

12.A.a

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

3-
11

  (
L

ib
ra

ry
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes from Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 12.B 

Meeting Date:   December 04, 2023 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Register of Deeds 

 

Attachments: Register of Deeds Report (PDF) 

 

12.B

Packet Pg. 109



12.B.a

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s)



12.B.a

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s)


	Agenda Packet
	Welcome & Call to Order
	Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
	I. Consideration of Agenda
	II. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement
	III. Election of Board Chair - John Morrison
	IV. Election of Board Vice Chair
	V. Presentations
	A. Employee Recognition - Beverly Fonville
	Printout: Employee Recognition - Beverly Fonville


	VI. Public Comments
	VII. New Business
	A. Approval of Bonds
	Printout: Approval of Bonds
	a. Bonds

	B. Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Regular Meeting Schedule
	Printout: Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Regular Meeting Schedule
	a. Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Schedule of Regular Meetings

	C. 2024 Holiday Schedule
	Printout: 2024 Holiday Schedule
	a. 2024 Holiday Schedule

	D. Tax Report
	Printout: Tax Report
	a. October20231128102040116

	E. Proposed SMWA System Transfer and Purchase Agreement
	Printout: Proposed SMWA System Transfer and Purchase Agreement
	a. Camden - South Mills - System Transfer and Purchase Agreement 4860-1097-2022 v.3

	F. Williams Brothers Farms Proposed Lease
	Printout: Williams Brothers Farms Proposed Lease
	a. Ag Use Lease, 4888-9314-1906

	G. Lease Renewal of County Property - 390 US 158
	Printout: Lease Renewal of County Property - 390 US 158

	H. Lease Renewal of County Property - 151 Gumberry Road
	Printout: Lease Renewal of County Property - 151 Gumberry Road


	VIII. Board Appointments
	A. Parks & Recreation
	Printout: Parks & Recreation
	a. Jill Inscore_Parks and Recreation Application


	Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors
	Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	IX. Consent Agenda
	A. BOC Meeting Minutes
	Printout: BOC Meeting Minutes
	a. bocminutes_110623

	B. Budget Amendments
	Printout: Budget Amendments
	a. 23-24 BA 018 Increase to Library Salaries for Rachel Bryant
	b. 23-24 BA 019 Increase to Professional Services for Well & Wastewater Lines
	c. 23-24 BA 020 Stormwater Escrow

	C. Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	Printout: Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	a. Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	D. Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: Refunds Over $100.00
	a. Refunds Over $100

	E. Tax Collection Report
	Printout: Tax Collection Report
	a. Tax Collection Report

	F. Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	a. REFUNDS OVER $100.00 OCTOBER, 23

	G. 2024-2025 Annual Budget & CIP Calendar
	Printout: 2024-2025 Annual Budget & CIP Calendar
	a. Approved Calendar FY24-25


	X. County Manager's Report
	XI. Commissioners' Reports
	XII. Information, Reports & Minutes from Other Agencies
	A. Library Report
	Printout: Library Report
	a. 23-11

	B. Register of Deeds
	Printout: Register of Deeds
	a. Register of Deeds Report


	XIII. Other Matters
	Closed Session - Personnel
	XIV. Adjourn

	Appendix
	5.A · Employee Recognition - Beverly Fonville
	7.A · Approval of Bonds
	7.A.a · Bonds

	7.B · Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Regular Meeting Schedule
	7.B.a · Resolution 2023-12-01 Establishing the 2024 Schedule of Regular Meetings

	7.C · 2024 Holiday Schedule
	7.C.a · 2024 Holiday Schedule

	7.D · Tax Report
	7.D.a · October20231128102040116

	7.E · Proposed SMWA System Transfer and Purchase Agreement
	7.E.a · Camden - South Mills - System Transfer and Purchase Agreement 4860-1097-2022 v.3

	7.F · Williams Brothers Farms Proposed Lease
	7.F.a · Ag Use Lease, 4888-9314-1906

	7.G · Lease Renewal of County Property - 390 US 158
	7.H · Lease Renewal of County Property - 151 Gumberry Road
	8.A · Parks & Recreation
	8.A.a · Jill Inscore_Parks and Recreation Application

	9.A · BOC Meeting Minutes
	9.A.a · bocminutes_110623

	9.B · Budget Amendments
	9.B.a · 23-24 BA 018 Increase to Library Salaries for Rachel Bryant
	9.B.b · 23-24 BA 019 Increase to Professional Services for Well & Wastewater Lines
	9.B.c · 23-24 BA 020 Stormwater Escrow

	9.C · Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	9.C.a · Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	9.D · Refunds Over $100.00
	9.D.a · Refunds Over $100

	9.E · Tax Collection Report
	9.E.a · Tax Collection Report

	9.F · Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	9.F.a · REFUNDS OVER $100.00 OCTOBER, 23

	9.G · 2024-2025 Annual Budget & CIP Calendar
	9.G.a · Approved Calendar FY24-25

	12.A · Library Report
	12.A.a · 23-11

	12.B · Register of Deeds
	12.B.a · Register of Deeds Report





